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Plaintiff, Aurora Regino, by and through her undersigned counsel, hereby states the
following claims for relief against Defendants, each in their official capacity only, and
respectfully requests that this Court render a declaratory judgment and issue a permanent
injunction against Defendants’ ongoing violations of the United States Constitution as set forth
herein.! In support thereof, Ms. Regino alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. The United States Constitution protects parents’ fundamental right to direct and
control the upbringing of their children. This right includes the right of parents to direct and
control the decision-making process regarding whether a public school will “socially transition”
their minor children from one gender to another.

2. “Social transitioning” refers to the active affirmation of a person’s transgender
identity. In the school setting, it primarily refers to calling the student by a new name associated
with their transgender identity and referring to the student by pronouns associated with their
transgender identity. Social transitioning is a powerful psychological intervention affecting a
matter of major importance to a minor’s life that implicates the integrity of the family. Under the
United States Constitution, public schools may not socially transition minors without first
informing and receiving consent from their parents.

3. The Chico Unified School District (the “District” or “Defendants”) has adopted an
administrative regulation (the “Parental Secrecy Policy” or the “Policy”) under which schools in
the District will (1) socially transition any student who claims to have a transgender identity and
asks to be socially transitioned in the school environment and (2) keep the social transitioning
secret from the student’s parents unless the student specifically authorizes the school to inform
them. Schools in the District are prompting students to question their sexuality and gender and,
under the Parental Secrecy Policy, employing the coercive machinery of the state to socially

transition students who assert a transgender identity, all without informing the students’ parents

! Ms. Regino files this First Amended Complaint as a matter of right pursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 15(a)(1)(B).
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or obtaining parental consent. Even if the parents would be supportive of their children—as Ms.
Regino was here—the Parental Secrecy Policy precludes parents from being a part of this
monumental decision in their children’s lives based on nothing more than the child’s say so.

4. Ms. Regino’s oldest daughter, A.S., was a fifth-grade student at an elementary
school operated by the District during the 2021-2022 school year. In early 2022, when A.S. was
eleven years old, she informed a school counselor that she “felt like a boy.” Within minutes of
A.S. making that statement, the counselor asked A.S. if she had a boy name she would like to be
called and whether she would like to be referred to with male pronouns. A.S. said that she did.
After the meeting, the counselor walked A.S. to class and informed A.S.’s teacher about A.S.’s
new identity, name, and pronouns. Thereafter, the District, through deliberate governmental
action and threat of sanction for non-compliance, required everyone in the school environment—
administrators, teachers, and other students—to refer to A.S. by her new name and pronouns.
Despite the role the District played in socially transitioning A.S., the District kept its actions secret
from A.S.’s mother, Ms. Regino.

5. Social transitioning is a significant form of psychological treatment. Indeed, the
very purpose of social transitioning is to alleviate the psychological distress that can be caused by
a mismatch between one’s body and gender identity by affirming the transgender identity. The
District, however, lacked both the competence and parental consent necessary to administer this
treatment to A.S. As a minor child, A.S. was not capable of giving her own consent.

6. The decision of whether to socially transition a child at school is a monumental
decision in the life of the child. It has long-term consequences that will drastically impact the
child’s life course, and it implicates the integrity of the family unit, altering intimate interpersonal
relationships between parents and their “sons” or “daughters.”

7. Despite these facts, the District, acting pursuant to the Parental Secrecy Policy, cut
Ms. Regino out of the decision-making process, arrogating to itself and A.S. the authority to make
these decisions on their own. By doing so, the District treated A.S. as a mere creature of the state
and in a manner that is repugnant to the American tradition.

8. After several weeks of the District treating Ms. Regino’s daughter as if she were a
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boy, Ms. Regino learned about the District’s actions and A.S.’s supposed new gender identity.
Ms. Regino was supportive of A.S. but upset that the school had not even informed her that it was
socially transitioning her daughter. She tried to encourage the District to abandon the Parental
Secrecy Policy in favor of a policy that would involve parents in students’ social transitioning,
but she was told that the Policy is required by California law. This is false.

0. Despite the District’s efforts to socially transition A.S. to a boy, A.S. has, for now,
returned to identifying as a girl. She now believes her feelings of gender confusion were brought
on by a confluence of factors, including the stress of other external difficulties in her life and the
District’s promotion of transgender identities. She now attends regular counseling sessions with
a private therapist to help her to cope with the stressors in her life.

10. By socially transitioning A.S. without informing Ms. Regino or obtaining her
consent, the District violated Ms. Regino’s fundamental right to direct and control the upbringing
of her child. Parents, not schools, have the right—and responsibility—to make decisions
regarding their minor children’s medical and psychological treatment, the major decisions in their
children’s lives, and decisions that implicate the integrity of their family. These rights are
infringed when schools socially transition children from one gender to another without informing
their parents and obtaining their consent to do so.

1. Ms. Regino brings this action to vindicate that right. Both of her children still
attend school in the District, and the District continues to adhere to the Parental Secrecy Policy.
Accordingly, Ms. Regino’s parental rights are subject to an ongoing threat. She seeks (1) a
declaratory judgment declaring the Parental Secrecy Policy unconstitutional and (2) a preliminary
and permanent injunction precluding the District from continuing to enforce the Parental Secrecy
Policy.

12. Upon receiving notice of this lawsuit, the District initially denied in written
correspondence to parents that it even had a Parental Secrecy Policy. See “A Message from the
CUSD Superintendent,” dated January 13, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit A. At subsequent
meetings of the Chico Unified School District Board of Education (the “Board”), however, the

District has been forced to admit that the Policy is, in fact, in force. Indeed, at the Board meeting
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on April 5, 2023, the Board affirmed its commitment to the Parental Secrecy Policy. Ms. Regino
thus respectfully requests that the Court enjoin the Parental Secrecy Policy, once and for all,
without delay.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13. This action arises under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.

14. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

15. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a
substantial part of the events giving rise to Ms. Regino’s claims occurred within this district.

THE PARTIES

16. Plaintiff Aurora Regino is a resident of Chico, California. She is a single mother
with sole custody over her two minor daughters, A.S. (age twelve) and C.S. (age nine), both of
whom live with her. At all relevant times to this Complaint, both A.S. and C.S attended—and still
attend—schools operated by the District.

17. Ms. Regino is a fit parent, is actively involved in her children’s lives, loves her
children dearly, seeks to do what is best for them at all times, and wishes to provide them with
the nurturing and guidance of a loving and caring mother in all aspects of their lives. To that end,
Ms. Regino engages with her children’s schools and other aspects of their lives outside of the
family home to ensure that she is informed about what occurs in their lives when they are not in
her immediate supervision. She intends to continue this level of involvement in her children’s
lives.

18. The District is a public school district based in Chico, California. It operates
twenty-three schools—twelve elementary schools, four junior high schools, three high schools,
and four other schools, some of which educate children as young as four years old. See
http://www.chicousd.org/Schools/Our-Schools/index.html, last visited on April 8, 2023, attached
hereto as Exhibit B. Over 12,000 students attend school in the District. See
http://www.chicousd.org/Our-District/index.html, last visited on April 8, 2023, attached hereto as
Exhibit C.
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19. The District is governed by the Chico Unified School District Board of Education
(the “Board”). See http://www.chicousd.org/Our-District/Board-Trustee-Information/index.html,
last visited on April 8, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit D. The Board and its five Members are
responsible for general oversight and operations of the District. See id.

20. Defendant Caitlin Dalby is a Member of the Board. /d. In this capacity, Ms. Dalby
is responsible for general oversight and operations of the District. /d. At all times relevant to this
Complaint, Ms. Dalby was and will be acting under color of California law while performing her
duties as a Board Member. Ms. Dalby is sued in her official capacity only.

21. Defendant Rebecca Konkin is a Member of the Board. /d. In this capacity, Ms.
Konkin is responsible for general oversight and operations of the District. /d. At all times relevant
to this Complaint, Ms. Konkin was and will be acting under color of California law while
performing her duties as a Board Member. Ms. Konkin is sued in her official capacity only.

22. Defendant Tom Lando is a Member of the Board. /d. In this capacity, Mr. Lando
is responsible for general oversight and operations of the District. /d. At all times relevant to this
Complaint, Mr. Lando was and will be acting under color of California law while performing his
duties as a Board Members. Mr. Lando is sued in his official capacity only.

23.  Defendant Eileen Robinson is a Member of the Board. /d. In this capacity, Ms.
Robinson is responsible for general oversight and operations of the District. /d. At all times
relevant to this Complaint, Ms. Robinson was and will be acting under color of California law
while performing her duties as a Board Member. Ms. Robinson is sued in her official capacity
only.

24.  Defendant Matt Tennis is a Member of the Board. /d. In this capacity, Mr. Tennis
is responsible for general oversight and operations of the District. /d. At all times relevant to this
Complaint, Mr. Tennis was and will be acting under color of California law while performing his
duties as a Board Member. Mr. Tennis is sued in his official capacity only.

25. Defendant Kelly Staley is the Superintendent of the District. See
http://www.chicousd.org/Our-District/Superintendent/index.html, last visited on April 8, 2023,

attached hereto as Exhibit E. In this capacity, Superintendent Staley is responsible for the
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implementation of all District policies, and the development, adoption, and implementation of all
administrative regulations, including the Parental Secrecy Policy, and she has ultimate
supervisory authority over all District employees, which includes all employees working at the
schools within the District. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Superintendent Staley was and
will be acting under color of California law while performing her duties as Superintendent.
Superintendent Staley is sued in her official capacity only.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Background on Transgender Identities and Gender Dysphoria

b

26. The terms “sex” and “gender” are not interchangeable. “Sex” refers to an
individual’s biological reproductive capabilities, while “gender” refers to the characteristics of

women, men, boys, and girls that are socially constructed and mutable.

27. A person’s “gender identity” is the person’s internal, felt experience of gender.

28.  Persons with a “transgender” identity feel that their gender identity does not match
their sex.

29. “Gender dysphoria” refers to a condition in which the mismatch between an

individual’s gender identity and sex produces psychological distress in the individual. Gender
dysphoria is a diagnosable psychiatric condition. For the psychological distress to produce gender
dysphoria, the distress must be over a certain threshold.

30. A person can have a transgender identity without the threshold of associated
psychological distress and thus not have gender dysphoria. Nevertheless, a large proportion of
minors who have a transgender identity also have developmental and psychiatric conditions such
as autism, depression, anxiety, eating disorders, and ADHD. Many also have gender dysphoria.

31.  Having a transgender identity or gender dysphoria is not biologically determined.

32. Minors who claim or express interest in pursuing a transgender identity often do
so based on stereotypical notions of femaleness and maleness that reflect constrictive notions of
what men and women can be. For example, a male child may feel he has a female gender identity
because, in his perception, men like sports and he does not. These minors are unaware of—and

simply need to be educated regarding—the vast array of possibilities of how life can be lived as
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a man or a woman.

33. Absent affirmative intervention, a large majority of pre-pubescent children who
develop a transgender identity will desist—that is, lose their transgender identity—prior to
adulthood.

34, Absent affirmative intervention, many post-pubescent children who develop a
transgender identity will also desist prior to adulthood, albeit in smaller percentages than pre-
pubescent children.

35. There are generally four approaches to treating gender dysphoria in children: the
“watchful waiting” model, the “hands off” model, the “psychotherapy” model, and the
“affirmation” model. There are significant differences in these approaches.

36. The “watchful waiting” model seeks to allow for the fluid nature of gender identity
in children to evolve naturally. Under this model, the mental health professional treats any other
psychological co-morbidities without a focus on gender.

37. The “hands off” model is similar to the “watchful waiting” model insofar as it
allows the child’s gender identity to evolve naturally, but it provides no ongoing treatment.

38. Under the “psychotherapy” model, the mental health professional seeks to identify
the causes of the psychological distress and to address those causes through psychotherapy as a
means of alleviating the distress.

39. The “affirmation” model is starkly different from the other three. It holds that any
expression of a transgender identity in the child should be immediately accepted as decisive and
permanent.

40. A primary pillar of the “affirmation” model is that children who assert a
transgender identity and who seek to be socially transitioned should be socially transitioned in
order to alleviate any psychological distress associated with the mismatch between the child’s
gender identity and sex. In addition, the “affirmation” model assumes that any psychological co-
morbidities will improve with the social transition.

41. The “affirmation” model—and, specifically, the idea that all children who assert a

transgender identity and who seek to be socially transitioned should be socially transitioned—is
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an impermissible “one-size-fits-all” approach that fails to account for the broader and unique
issues the child is facing.

42. Social transitioning is not appropriate for every minor child with a transgender
identity who expresses a desire to be socially transitioned. For example, as discussed, some
children have such a desire due to their stereotypical notions of gender roles. In that situation,
education—not social transitioning—is appropriate. Social transitioning in this situation can
create psychological complications for the child.

43. Social transitioning is not a mere benign intervention; instead, it is a significant
form of psychological treatment that substantially reduces the number of children who desist from
a transgender identity. In other words, socially transitioning children who have a transgender
identity makes it significantly more likely that the transgender identity will persist in the child.
Living in a transgender identity, which is the result of social transitioning, makes desistence more
difficult and significantly less likely.

44. In the vast majority of cases where children receive “affirmative” care in the form
of social transitioning, the child goes on to receive further “affirmative” care—i.e., puberty
blockers and cross-sex hormones, at least. For this reason, before social transitioning is
considered, a mental health professional must take account of the risks of this future additional
“affirmative” care. These risks are significant, and include bone weakness, cardiovascular harm,
depression, increased risk of suicide, decreased sexual response, infertility, sterility, and
premature adult mortality, to name a few.

45. In light of the first principle of medical ethics (“do no harm”) and based on the
risk of iatrogenic harm associated with the “affirmation” method—including the likelihood of
inducing persistence and the potential harm of graduated “affirmative” care—the distinct trend in
western Europe is a move away from the “affirmation” model as the first approach to treating
gender dysphoria in children.

46. Regardless of the treatment model, parental involvement is necessary for the
responsible, adequate, and ethical assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of children with a

transgender identity and gender dysphoria and related conditions. This includes social
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transitioning. The only exception is when the child is either emancipated or a ward of the state.

47. If a minor child’s parents are not involved in the process, the child will be unable
even to see an appropriate mental health professional on his or her own. Moreover, parents have
detailed information about their children’s lives, including their medical and psychological
history, behaviors, habits, relationships, etc., that provide insight into the child’s condition and
ongoing needs. In addition, information about the parent-child relationship itself is invaluable in
the process. Without all of this information, the mental health professional will be unable to
provide an effective assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of the child.

48.  When a school socially transitions a child in secret from his or her parents, the
child inhabits different gender identities at home and school, a situation that is inherently
psychologically unhealthy for the child and counterproductive to the child’s treatment and mental
well-being.

49. Schools that socially transition children without their parents’ knowledge and
consent also violate bedrock principles of medical ethics. Minor children are deemed incapable
of making sound judgments regarding their own health care and of understanding the risks
associated with it. Even if children could provide informed consent, school personnel lack
sufficient knowledge of and training in the complexities and risks in the field to provide sufficient
information. And because school personnel lack this knowledge and training, they themselves are
unable to adequately determine whether—and what—treatment is necessary. Thus, in order to
obtain informed consent for social transitioning, parental involvement is required.

50. School personnel lack the necessary education, training, and expertise to enable
children (and their parents) to begin to understand what is taking place in the child’s mind as a
result of social, familial, and individual developmental processes. Far from benefitting students,
schools that socially transition minor children without parental knowledge and consent increase
transitioned students’ anxiety and sense of alienation. The child and the school are colluding to
conceal facts from the child’s parents, which adds to the student’s sense that his or her parents
are the “enemy,” thus deepening a wedge between parent and child during a formative period in

the child’s life. Further, social transitioning risks stabilizing what might otherwise be a temporary
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identity state, thus leading to the further risks of harm discussed above. By socially transitioning
children in secret, the school is making a significant decision regarding the child’s psychological
treatment and well-being that the child’s parents and mental health professionals should be
making together.

The District’s Parental Secrecy Policy

51. The District has adopted and implemented the Parental Secrecy Policy—which is
set forth in an administrative regulation that was developed, adopted, and implemented by
Superintendent Staley and / or her predecessor in office—at all schools within the District. See
Administrative Regulation #5145.3, attached hereto as Exhibit F. Under the Parental Secrecy
Policy, which is a policy, practice, procedure, and / or custom of the District, schools in the
District will (1) socially transition any student who claims to have a transgender identity and asks
to be socially transitioned in the school environment and (2) keep the social transitioning secret
from the student’s parents unless the student specifically authorizes parental notification. /d. at
5-7.

52. Specifically, under the Parental Secrecy Policy, if a student informs District
personnel that he or she has a transgender identity and wants to be referred to by a new name and
pronouns associated with that identity in the school environment, all District personnel and
students are required to refer to the student by that name and pronouns. /d. at 5 (providing that it
shall be a violation of the Parental Secrecy Policy to “[r]efus[e] to address a student by a name
and the pronouns consistent with the student’s gender identity”’). Unless a student who is being
socially transitioned specifically authorizes parental disclosure, District personnel are prohibited
from making such disclosure, except where (1) disclosure is “otherwise required by law” or (2)
the District “has compelling evidence that disclosure is necessary to preserve the student’s
physical or mental well-being.” Id.

53. Under the Parental Secrecy Policy, the District is authorized to “[t]ak[e]
appropriate disciplinary action against students, employees, and anyone determined to have”

violated any aspect of the Policy, including but not limited to the requirement that everyone in
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the school environment must refer to students by their new names and pronouns. /d. at 3—4. Thus,
the Parental Secrecy Policy is enforced by the threat of the coercive power of the state. /d.

54. The Parental Secrecy Policy is described as a “Nondiscrimination/Harassment”
policy, and it does not touch upon the curriculum taught within the District. /d. at 1. Instead, it
requires the District to perform significant psychological treatment on students, in the form of
social transitioning, behind their parents’ backs based on nothing more than the students’
statement that they want to be socially transitioned and do not want their parents to be involved,
for whatever reason—or no reason at all.

The District’s Actions toward A.S.

55. Ms. Regino’s oldest daughter, A.S., is a twelve-year-old girl. During the 2021—
2022 school year, A.S. attended fifth grade at Sierra View Elementary School (“Sierra View”),
which is a school within in the District.

56.  In the fall of 2021, when she was eleven years old, A.S. began feeling depressed
and anxious. She had just begun puberty, and there had been significant changes in her home life
over the preceding months. Her grandfather had recently passed away and her mother (Ms.
Regino) had just completed treatment for breast cancer and was in the process of obtaining a
degree in nursing. A.S.’s father is disabled due to an injury from an automobile accident and, as
a result of the changes at home, A.S. began taking on a greater role in caring for her younger
sister, C.S., who was seven years old at the time. These events left A.S. feeling mentally exhausted
and emotionally confused.

57. Mandi Robertson was a school counselor at Sierra View. At all times relevant to
this Complaint, Ms. Robertson was acting under color of California law while performing her
duties as a school counselor.

58. Throughout the 2021-2022 school year, Ms. Robertson visited A.S.’s class on a
regular basis to remind the class of the services the counselor’s office provided. During these
visits, Ms. Robertson frequently brought up the topics of sexuality and gender identity. She would
encourage students to explore their sexual identities and consider whether they felt like they were

not the gender associated with their sex. She explained that that feeling was normal and that
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students should embrace the feeling if they had it.

59. A.S. took Ms. Robertson’s advice. She began wondering if her new feelings of
anxiety and depression were because she was born the wrong sex.

60.  Around December 2021, A.S. began feeling like she might be a boy. These
feelings were the result of her exploring her gender identity consistent with Ms. Robertson’s
instructions.

61. In December 2021, before winter break, A.S. met with Ms. Robertson to discuss
her feelings of anxiety and depression. At that meeting, A.S. did not mention to Ms. Robertson
that she felt like a boy. Ms. Robertson encouraged A.S. to join a small group of other girls around
her age that she (Ms. Robertson) would be organizing when school resumed the following month
(the “Girls Group™). Ms. Robertson told A.S. that the Girls’ Group would be primarily focused
on arts and crafts and that the group would be a good opportunity for A.S. to make new friends.
Ms. Robertson provided A.S. with a permission slip for participation in the Girls Group for her
mother to sign.

62. Ms. Regino agreed that an arts-and-crafts group could facilitate positive social
interaction for A.S. with other girls her own age and could help A.S. with her anxiety and
depression. Ms. Regino signed the permission slip allowing A.S. to participate in the group once
school began in the spring semester of 2022. The permission slip was for attendance at the Girls
Group only.

63. On or about January 20, 2022, A.S. attended her first Girls Group meeting. The
meetings included A.S. and about four of her female classmates, whose ages ranged from 10 to
12 years old. The first one or two meetings of the Girls Group were geared towards arts and crafts,
as A.S. anticipated, but the subject of the meetings quickly changed.

Ms. Robertson and the District Socially Transition A.S.

64. After one or two Girl’s Group meetings, A.S. went to Ms. Robertson’s office to
tell her that she “felt like a boy” or words of similar effect. Ms. Robertson asked A.S. if she had
a boy’s name that she would like to be called and whether she would like to be referred to by male

pronouns. A.S. was unsure whether she wanted others at school to start calling her by a male
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name and pronouns, but she felt pressured by Ms. Robertson, so she responded in the affirmative
and told Ms. Robertson her boy’s name was “J.S.” Ms. Robertson asked A.S. if she wanted her
mother to be informed about her new identity at school, and A.S. said she did not. At the time,
A.S. mistakenly thought that her mother would be “mad” at her for wanting to identify as a boy.

65. During this meeting, Ms. Robertson did not discuss A.S.’s feelings of anxiety and
depression, nor did she attempt to understand the reason(s) behind A.S.’s supposed transgender
identity. Instead, the discussion focused solely on how to effect A.S.’s social transition to a boy.

66. After the meeting, Ms. Robertson walked A.S. to her class and told her teacher
that A.S. was now going by the name “J.S.” and male pronouns, and her teacher immediately
began referring to her as such. In addition, pursuant to the Parental Secrecy Policy, Ms. Robertson
and / or A.S.’s teacher arranged for other school personnel to begin referring to A.S. by “J.S.”
and male pronouns, which they did.

67.  Once A.S. told Ms. Robertson she “felt like a boy,” the Girls Group meetings
changed substantially. Instead of arts-and-craft projects, Ms. Robertson now led A.S. and her
female classmates in a discussion regarding sexuality and gender identity. They discussed how to
cope with having feelings that one’s sex does not match one’s gender—specifically, how
embracing those feelings and socially transitioning can alleviate the stress and anxiety of living
as the “wrong” gender.

68.  Over the course of the spring semester of 2022, A.S. had approximately two
additional one-on-one meetings with Ms. Robertson. At these meetings, Ms. Robertson provided
A.S. with additional resources regarding her supposed new male identity, such as referring A.S.
to a local community group that advocates for LGBTQ+ causes and discussing “top surgery”?

and “breast binding” with her.?

2 “Top surgery” refers to a double mastectomy. Females who identify as transgender sometimes
have a double mastectomy to appear more masculine.

3 “Breast binding” refers to the flattening of a female’s breasts with constrictive clothing to make
the chest appear flat. Females who identify as transgender sometimes bind their breasts to appear
more masculine.
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69. A.S. told Ms. Robertson that she wanted to tell her mother about her new male
identity, but Ms. Robertson was not supportive of this course of action. She brushed off A.S.’s
request and encouraged her to speak with other family members before telling her mother.

70.  During this time, pursuant to the Parental Secrecy Policy, school personnel and
students continued referring to A.S. by her new name and pronouns. Every day at school, A.S.
was known as “J.S.” and referred to with male pronouns, while at home, she remained A.S.
Despite requiring a parental permission slip for A.S. to participate in an arts-and-crafts club, the
District socially transitioned A.S. from a girl to a boy without even informing her mother, much
less obtaining her permission to do so.

71. At no time did Ms. Robertson or anyone at the District inform A.S. (or her mother)
that: (1) A.S. should discuss her feelings with a mental health professional; (2) A.S. was free to
socially transition back to a girl; (3) A.S. should tell her mother about her social transitioning; or
(4) there are risks associated with social transitioning, including the risk of making desistence less
likely or the risks associated with graduated affirmative care, nor does the Parental Secrecy Policy
require District personnel to make these disclosures to students who are being socially
transitioned.

A.S. “Comes Out” to her Grandmother and Quickly Returns to her Female Identity

72. On or about April 8, 2022, A.S. told her grandmother about her new gender
identity. A.S.’s grandmother informed Ms. Regino of the news later that day.

73. Ms. Regino was surprised to learn of A.S.’s assertion of a transgender identity,
and she was shocked that the District had socially transitioned A.S. without involving her, but she
was—and is—supportive of her daughter. All she wanted—and wants—was for her daughter to
be happy and healthy.

74. Ms. Regino informed A.S. of her support and told her she would assist her with
her social transition if that was what she wanted. In addition, Ms. Regino arranged for A.S. to
begin attending counseling sessions with a licensed marriage and family therapist to discuss her
feelings of depression and anxiety.

75.  Although Ms. Regino was supportive of her daughter, had Ms. Regino been
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involved in the process, she would not have allowed Sierra View to socially transition her
daughter without first seeking guidance from a mental health professional. Ms. Regino arrived at
this view for several reasons, including but not limited to: A.S.’s young age and Ms. Regino’s
perception of her cognitive incapability of understanding what it might mean to have a
transgender identity; the quick onset of A.S.’s feelings of gender confusion; the existence of other
stressors in A.S.’s life that were the more likely explanation of her feelings of gender confusion;
and the short duration of A.S.’s feelings of gender confusion.

76.  Even before A.S. “came out” to her grandmother, she had already begun to
question whether she really felt like a boy or wanted to use her male name and male pronouns.
But because the Sierra View community now viewed her as a boy, called her by a male name,
and referred to her using male pronouns, A.S. felt like she was stuck in the new male identity,
which she inhabited for the remainder of her fifth-grade year. Based on this fact, her depression
and anxiety worsened to the point where she wanted to transfer to a different school.

77. Over the rest of the spring semester and summer of 2022, A.S.’s feelings about
being a boy continued to subside.

Ms. Regino Tries to Persuade the District to Abandon the Policy

78.  Immediately upon learning that the District had socially transitioned A.S. and kept
it secret from her, Ms. Regino contacted Sierra View to report Ms. Robertson’s actions and the
actions of the other Sierra View employees who were involved in socially transitioning her
daughter.

79. At the time, Ms. Regino, who was not represented by counsel, did not know about
the existence of the Parental Secrecy Policy or that it applied throughout the District. Instead, she
assumed—wrongly, as she later learned—that Ms. Robertson and the Sierra View employees who
were involved in socially transitioning A.S. were not acting pursuant to District policies.

80. Later in April of 2022, after Ms. Regino had spoken with school-level employees,
the District’s Director of Elementary Education, Ted Sullivan, contacted Ms. Regino and
informed her that California law required schools to socially transition students without informing

their parents unless the student authorizes them to do so.
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81. In addition, Mr. Sullivan emailed Ms. Regino a link to an “FAQ” page on the
California Department of Education (“DOE”) website regarding Assembly Bill 1266 (“AB
1266”). See https://www.cde.ca.gov/re/di/eo/fags.asp, last visited on April 8, 2023, attached
hereto as Exhibit G. AB 1266 was legislation, now codified at Cal. Ed. Code. § 221.5, designed
to prohibit discrimination in schools based on gender identity. Mr. Sullivan informed Ms. Regino
that, based on this FAQ page, Sierra View employees had acted consistent with California law.

82. The FAQ, however, does not purport to have the force of law, nor does AB 1266
(or any other provision of California law) require schools to adopt the Parental Secrecy Policy.
Instead, as relevant here, AB 1266 provides only that California public schools must allow
students to “participate in sex-segregated school programs and activities . . . and use facilities
consistent with his or her gender identity.” See Cal. Educ. Code § 221.5(%).

83.  Ms. Regino informed Mr. Sullivan that she did not interpret either the FAQ or AB
1266 to authorize schools to socially transition children without parental notification and consent.

84. At that time, Ms. Regino still did not know about the existence of the Parental
Secrecy Policy or that it applied throughout the District.

85. As the 2021-2022 school year came to a close, Ms. Regino became concerned that
(1) District employees at Marsh Junior High School (“Marsh”), the school A.S. would be
attending for the 2022-2023 school year, could attempt to socially transition A.S. without
informing her, like they had done at Sierra View, and (2) District employees at Sierra View, the
school C.S. was attending and would be attending for the 2022—2023 school year, could also
attempt to transition C.S. without informing her, as they had done with her sister.

86. Disappointed by her prior exchanges with District personnel, Ms. Regino reached
out to the District’s Deputy Superintendent, Jay Marchant, to speak with him about what had
happened to A.S. and her concerns that it could happen again.

87. On or about May 5, 2022, Ms. Regino met with Mr. Marchant. He, like Mr.
Sullivan, informed Ms. Regino that Sierra View employees had acted as required by California
law. Ms. Regino again disagreed with this assertion.

88. On or about August 8, 2022, Ms. Regino again met with Mr. Marchant, this time
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to seek to transfer her younger daughter, C.S., out of Sierra View and into a different school
within the District, away from Ms. Robertson and the other Sierra View employees who had been
involved in socially transitioning A.S. On or about August 22, 2022, the District granted Ms.
Regino’s request, authorizing C.S. to transfer to Parkview, another school within the District.

89. Despite the fact Ms. Regino’s children were no longer at Sierra View—and what
she believed to be an isolated situation there—she continued to press District administration for
assurances that what had happened to A.S. would not happen again. On or about October 10,
2022, Ms. Regino met with Superintendent Staley to discuss the issue. In that meeting, for the
first time, Ms. Regino came to realize that the Parental Secrecy Policy was being applied
throughout the District, including at Marsh and Parkview.

90. In that meeting, Superintendent Staley informed Ms. Regino that the Parental
Secrecy Policy was required by California law. Again, this is false.

91. On October 31, 2022, Ms. Regino emailed Superintendent Staley to reiterate her
concerns with the Parental Secrecy Policy. On or about November 2, 2022, in response to Ms.
Regino’s follow-up email, Superintendent Staley confirmed that the District would continue to
apply the Parental Secrecy Policy, stating that the District “must work within the confines of the
law.”

92. On or about that same day, Ms. Regino began searching for counsel to assist her
in evaluating claims she might have against the District. Ms. Regino engaged the undersigned
counsel to bring this lawsuit on or about November 28, 2022.

Ms. Regino’s Current and Future Harm

93. The District applies the Parental Secrecy Policy at all of its schools, including but
not limited to Marsh and Parkview. Thus, A.S. and C.S. are currently subject to the Parental
Secrecy Policy.

94, While A.S. now identifies as girl, she is still in counseling for her depression and
anxiety. In addition, C.S. is exhibiting traits and behaviors that cause Ms. Regino to believe that
C.S., is likely to seek to identify as a boy as she gets older, as her sister did.

95.  Ms. Regino respects her daughters’ life choices and will be supportive of them no
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matter what those choices ultimately may be, including if they come to have a transgender
identity. Ms. Regino is concerned, however, that the District will (again) socially transition her
daughters without informing her or obtaining her consent. Ms. Regino simply wants to be
involved in her daughters’ lives and with the choices that have fundamental importance to them,
such as the choice regarding whether to undergo social transitioning, and she is currently suffering
psychological distress from her concern that the District will (again) socially transition her
daughters behind her back.

96.  Because the District applies the Parental Secrecy Policy at the schools A.S. and
C.S. attend, the Policy presents a real, imminent, and credible threat to her parental right to direct
and control their upbringing insofar as it operates to keep decisions regarding her children’s social
transitioning secret from her and allows such decisions to be made without her involvement.

97.  Further, the District has steadfastly refused to disavow the Parental Secrecy Policy,
both in communications with Ms. Regino directly and in Board meetings held after Ms. Regino
filed this lawsuit.

98. Ms. Regino is subject to a real, imminent, and realistic danger that the District will
(again) socially transition her daughters without her knowledge and consent pursuant to the
Parental Secrecy Policy.

CAUSES OF ACTION
COUNT ONE

42 U.S.C. § 1983—Substantive Due Process
(Facial Challenge to Parental Secrecy Policy)
99.  Ms. Regino hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this First
Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.
100. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

Constitution protects the fundamental rights of parents* to direct and control the upbringing of

* All references to “parents” herein are meant to indicate custodial parents. The term also includes
the concept of guardians.
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their children; to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of their children; to
direct and control the medical and psychological treatment of their children; to make important
decisions in the lives of their children; and to make private familial decisions regarding their
children without undue interference by the state. These fundamental rights are deeply rooted in
our nation’s history and tradition and implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.

101.  On its face, the Parental Secrecy Policy violated in the past—and threatens to

violate in the future—these rights in the following ways:

a. The Parental Secrecy Policy authorizes children to make mature, consequential,
private, and potentially life-altering decisions without parental knowledge or
consent by excluding parents from the decision-making process on these matters
based on nothing more than the child’s say-so;

b. The Parental Secrecy Policy takes from parents and arrogates to District personnel
the authority to make these consequential, private, and potentially life-altering
decisions for their children by excluding parents from the decision-making process
and placing decision-making authority in District personnel based on nothing more
than the child’s say-so;

c. The Parental Secrecy Policy takes from parents the authority to make these
consequential, private, and potentially life-altering decisions for their children by
excluding parents from the decision-making process and placing decision-making
authority in their children based on nothing more than the child’s say-so;

d. The Parental Secrecy Policy interferes with parents’ right to familial privacy and
integrity by injecting the District into the family bonds that tie parents to their
children;

e. The Parental Secrecy Policy assumes that parents are not fit parents, capable of
making decisions on behalf of their children, which both (1) violates the
constitutionally mandated presumptions of fitness and affection unless proven

otherwise and (2) impermissibly sows seeds of doubt in children’s mind about
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whether their parents are acting in their best interests, thus creating a rift in the
parent-child relationship;

The Parental Secrecy Policy usurps parents’ responsibility as the ultimate
decision-maker regarding their children’s mental health and well-being, including
but not limited to decisions related to their gender identity and social transitioning,
and assigns that responsibility to the child;

The Parental Secrecy Policy usurps parents’ responsibility as the ultimate
decision-maker regarding their children’s mental health and well-being, including
but not limited to decisions related to their gender identity and social transitioning,
and assigns that responsibility to the District;

The Parental Secrecy Policy conceals important information from parents about
their children’s mental health and well-being, thus precluding them from taking
actions that they would deem in their children’s best interests if they were provided
with the relevant information;

The Parental Secrecy Policy authorizes the District to engage in significant
psychological treatment of children, in the form of socially transitioning them to a
new gender, without parents’ knowledge or consent;

The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing psychological
treatment to children, some of whom do not need it, without parents’ knowledge
or consent;

The Parental Secrecy Policy is harmful to children because it causes persistence
of transgender identities that would otherwise naturally desist;

The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment of children because parental involvement—and their deep
knowledge of their children over their life course, family interactions, and extra-
circular environment—is necessary for their diagnosis, assessment, and treatment;
The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard

psychological treatment of children because it assumes that immediate and
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102.

unqualified affirmation is the only permissible response to a child exhibiting
gender confusion whereas, in reality, such a “one size fits all” approach to these
issues is a blunt instrument that fails to account for the unique facts involved in
each situation;

The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment of children because District personnel are not trained
mental health practitioners in the field and thus are not qualified to provide
students expressing gender confusion the care they need;

The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment of children because creating a situation where a child
inhabits different gender identities and roles at home and school is inherently
psychologically unhealthy for the child; and

The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing unconsented-to
psychological treatment because: (1) children are cognitively incapable of giving
informed consent to life-altering psychological interventions like social
transitioning and the more-drastic gender-affirming care that is likely to follow;
(2) District personnel do not have sufficient knowledge of the complexities and
risks inherent in the field to provide students sufficient information that they could
provide informed consent even if they were cognitively capable of doing so; and
(3) District personnel do not have sufficient knowledge of the complexities and
risks inherent in the field to themselves evaluate whether social transitioning is
appropriate and ethical treatment.

On its face, the Parental Secrecy Policy is not narrowly tailored to any compelling

governmental purpose; does not further any important or legitimate government purpose; is not
supported by any rational basis; constitutes an unwarranted interference with family relationships;
and 1s the product of deliberate indifference to the rights of parents and their children.

103.

Students have no right of privacy vis-a-vis their parents with respect to either their

gender identity or the fact that their school is socially transitioning them. Further, even if such a
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right existed in the abstract, based on the fact the District is socially transitioning students
transitioned throughout the school environment pursuant to the Parental Secrecy Policy, students
have no reasonable expectation of privacy vis-a-vis their parents with respect to their gender
identity or the fact that their school is socially transitioning them. In any event, parents’ right to
notice and consent trumps any countervailing right students might have.

104. In the alternative, if parental notice and consent are not required, the Parental
Secrecy Policy is facially unconstitutional because it fails to require the District to at least notify
parents prior to socially transitioning their children.

105. Ms. Regino has no adequate remedy at law for these deprivations and will suffer
serious and irreparable harm to her constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined as set
forth herein.

106. Ms. Regino is entitled to declaratory relief and preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief invalidating and restraining Defendants from their ongoing violations of her
constitutional rights as set forth herein.

COUNT TWO
42 U.S.C. § 1983—Substantive Due Process
(As-Applied Challenge to Parental Secrecy Policy)

107. Ms. Regino hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this First
Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

108. As applied, the Parental Secrecy Policy violated in the past—and threatens to
violate in the future—MSs. Regino’s fundamental right to direct and control the upbringing of her
children; to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of her children; to direct
and control the medical and psychological treatment of her children; to make important decisions
in the lives of her children; and to make private familial decisions regarding her children without
undue interference by the state in the following ways:

a. The Parental Secrecy Policy authorizes A.S. and C.S. to make mature,

consequential, private, and potentially life-altering decisions without parental
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knowledge or consent by excluding their mother from the decision-making process
on these matters based on nothing more than their say-so;

b. The Parental Secrecy Policy takes from Ms. Regino and arrogates to District
personnel the authority to make these consequential, private, and potentially life-
altering decisions for A.S. and C.S. by excluding her from the decision-making
process and placing decision-making authority in District personnel based on
nothing more than their say-so;

c. The Parental Secrecy Policy takes from Ms. Regino the authority to make these
consequential, private, and potentially life-altering decisions for A.S. and C.S. by
excluding her from the decision-making process and placing decision-making
authority in her children based on nothing more than their say-so;

d. The Parental Secrecy Policy interferes with Ms. Regino’s right to familial privacy
and integrity by injecting the District into the family bonds that tie her to her
children;

e. The Parental Secrecy Policy assumes that Ms. Regino is not a fit parent, capable
of making decisions on behalf of A.S. and C.S., which both (1) violates the
constitutionally mandated presumptions of fitness and affection unless proven
otherwise and (2) impermissibly sows seeds of doubt in her children’s mind about
whether she is acting in their best interests, thus creating a rift in the parent-child
relationship;

f. The Parental Secrecy Policy usurps Ms. Regino’s responsibility as the ultimate
decision-maker regarding A.S.’s and C.S.’s mental health and well-being,
including but not limited to decisions related to their gender identity and social
transitioning, and assigns that responsibility to A.S. and C.S.;

g. The Parental Secrecy Policy usurps Ms. Regino’s responsibility as the ultimate
decision-maker regarding A.S.’s and C.S.’s mental health and well-being,
including but not limited to decisions related to their gender identity and social

transitioning, and assigns that responsibility to the District;
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h. The Parental Secrecy Policy conceals important information from Ms. Regino
about her children’s mental health and well-being, thus precluding her from taking
actions that she would deem in her children’s best interests if she were provided
with the relevant information;

1. The Parental Secrecy Policy authorizes the District to engage in significant
psychological treatment of A.S. and C.S., in the form of socially transitioning them
to a new gender, without Ms. Regino’s knowledge or consent;

J- The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing psychological
treatment to A.S. and C.S., whether or not they may need it, without Ms. Regino’s
knowledge or consent;

k. The Parental Secrecy Policy is harmful to A.S. and C.S. because it causes
persistence of transgender identities that would otherwise naturally desist;

1. The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment of A.S. and C.S. because Ms. Regino’s involvement—and
her deep knowledge of her children over their life course, family interactions, and
extra-circular environment—is necessary for their diagnosis, assessment, and
treatment;

m. The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment of A.S. and C.S. because it assumes that immediate and
unqualified affirmation is the only permissible response to a child exhibiting
gender confusion whereas, in reality, such a “one size fits all” approach to these
issues is a blunt instrument that fails to account for the unique facts involved in
each situation;

n. The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment A.S. and C.S. because District personnel are not trained
mental health practitioners in the field and thus are not qualified to provide

students expressing gender confusion the care they need;
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0. The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing substandard
psychological treatment of A.S. and C.S. because creating a situation where a child
inhabits different gender identities and roles at home and school is inherently
psychologically unhealthy; and

p. The Parental Secrecy Policy results in the District providing unconsented-to
psychological treatment to A.S. and C.S. because: (1) they are cognitively
incapable of giving informed consent to life-altering psychological interventions
like social transitioning and the more-drastic gender-affirming care that is likely
to follow; (2) District personnel do not have sufficient knowledge of the
complexities and risks inherent in the field to provide A.S. and C.S. sufficient
information that they could provide informed consent even if they were
cognitively capable of doing so; and (3) District personnel do not have sufficient
knowledge of the complexities and risks inherent in the field to themselves
evaluate whether social transitioning is appropriate and ethical treatment for A.S.
and C.S.

109.  Application of the Parental Secrecy Policy against Ms. Regino is not narrowly
tailored to any compelling governmental purpose; does not further any important or legitimate
government purpose; is not supported by any rational basis; constitutes an unwarranted
interference with Ms. Regino’s family relationships; and is the product of deliberate indifference
to the rights of Ms. Regino and her children.

110. A.S.and C.S. have no right of privacy vis-a-vis their mother with respect to either
their gender identity or the fact that their school is socially transitioning them. Further, even if
they had such a right in the abstract, based on the fact that the District would socially transition
A.S. and C.S. throughout the school environment pursuant to the Parental Secrecy Policy, they
have no reasonable expectation of privacy vis-a-vis their mother with respect to either their gender
identity or the fact that their school is socially transitioning them. In any event, Ms. Regino’s right
to notice and consent trumps any countervailing right A.S. and C.S. might have.

111. In the alternative, if parental notice and consent are not required, the Parental
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Secrecy Policy is unconstitutional as applied to Ms. Regino because it fails to require the District
to at least notify her prior to socially transitioning her children.

112.  Ms. Regino has no adequate remedy at law for these deprivations and will suffer
serious and irreparable harm to her constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined as set
forth herein.

113.  Ms. Regino is entitled to declaratory relief and preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief invalidating and restraining Defendants from their ongoing violations of her
constitutional rights as set forth herein.

COUNT THREE
42 U.S.C. § 1983—Procedural Due Process
(Facial Challenge to Parental Secrecy Policy)

114.  Ms. Regino hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this First
Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

115.  The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution protects individuals’ liberty interests against governmental infringement without due
process of law.

116. On its face, the Parental Secrecy Policy infringes upon Ms. Regino’s protected
liberty interests without providing adequate procedural safeguards, including a thorough
investigation into the relevant facts, notice, and an opportunity to be heard.

117. Ms. Regino has no adequate remedy at law for these deprivations and will suffer
serious and irreparable harm to her constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined as set
forth herein.

118.  Ms. Regino is entitled to declaratory relief and preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief invalidating and restraining Defendants from their ongoing violations of her
constitutional rights as set forth herein.

COUNT FOUR
42 U.S.C. § 1983—Procedural Due Process

(As-Applied Challenge to Parental Secrecy Policy)
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119. Ms. Regino hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this First
Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

120.  As applied, the Parental Secrecy Policy infringes upon Ms. Regino’s protected
liberty interests without providing adequate procedural safeguards, including a thorough
investigation into the relevant facts, notice, and an opportunity to be heard.

121.  Ms. Regino has no adequate remedy at law for these deprivations and will suffer
serious and irreparable harm to her constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined as set
forth herein.

122.  Ms. Regino is entitled to declaratory relief and preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief invalidating and restraining Defendants from their ongoing violations of her
constitutional rights as set forth herein.

COUNT FIVE
42 U.S.C. § 1983—First Amendment
(Facial Challenge to Parental Secrecy Policy)

123.  Ms. Regino hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this First
Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

124.  The First Amendment to the United States Constitution protects the fundamental
right of individuals to enter into and maintain certain intimate human relationships, including
family relationships, without undue interference by the state. This right includes the right of
parents to form personal bonds with their children. Parents’ relationships with their children have
played a critical role in the culture and traditions of our Nation through the cultivation and
transmittal of shared ideals and beliefs, thereby fostering diversity and acting as a buffer between
the individual and the power of the state.

125. Parents’ relationships with their children are shaped by whether the child is a boy
or a girl, and the nature and character of the personal bonds formed by those relationships will

b1

fundamentally differ based on whether the child is the parents’ “son” or “daughter.”
126. By authorizing the District to socially transition children without notifying parents

and obtaining their consent based on nothing more than the child’s preference that their parents
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not be involved, the Parental Secrecy Policy intentionally interferes, on its face, with the intimate
associations that bond parent and child together because socially transitioning children to a
different gender has the effect of fundamentally altering the nature of the parent-child
relationship.

127. Ms. Regino has no adequate remedy at law for these deprivations and will suffer
serious and irreparable harm to her constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined as set
forth herein.

128. Ms. Regino is entitled to declaratory relief and preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief invalidating and restraining Defendants from their ongoing violations of her
constitutional rights as set forth herein.

COUNT SIX
42 U.S.C. § 1983—First Amendment
(As-Applied Challenge to Parental Secrecy Policy)

129. Ms. Regino hereby incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this First
Amended Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

130. Ms. Regino’s relationships with A.S. and C.S. are shaped by the fact that her
daughters are girls, not boys, and the nature and character of the personal bonds formed by those
relationships would differ if her daughters were to become her sons.

131. By authorizing the District to socially transition A.S. and C.S. without notifying
her and obtaining her consent based on nothing more than their preference that she not be
involved, the Parental Secrecy Policy intentionally interferes, as applied, with the intimate
associations that bond her to her daughters.

132.  Ms. Regino has no adequate remedy at law for these deprivations and will suffer
serious and irreparable harm to her constitutional rights unless Defendants are enjoined as set
forth herein.

133.  Ms. Regino is entitled to declaratory relief and preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief invalidating and restraining Defendants from their ongoing violations of her

constitutional rights as set forth herein.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Ms. Regino requests the following relief:

1. A declaration that the Parental Secrecy Policy is facially invalid and invalid as
applied to her under the substantive and procedural components of the Due Process Clause and
the First Amendment;

2. A permanent injunction preventing Defendants and all those acting in concert with
them from implementing, enforcing, or abiding by the Parental Secrecy Policy or any policy that
allows Defendants to socially transition minor children without parental notification and consent
at all times in the future, both facially and as applied to her;

3. In the alternative, a permanent injunction preventing Defendants and all those
acting in concert with them from implementing, enforcing, or abiding by the Parental Secrecy
Policy or any policy that allows Defendants to socially transition children without prior parental
notification at all times in the future, both facially and as applied to her;

4. Costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988;

5. A trial by jury on all claims for which she has such a right; and

6. Such further relief that the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

Dated: April 10, 2023 DHILLON LAW GROUP INC.
CENTER FOR AMERICAN LIBERTY

/s/ Harmeet K. Dhillon
HARMEET K. DHILLON
MICHAEL A. COLUMBO
JOSHUA W. DIXON
ERIC A. SELL

Attorneys for Plaintiff
AURORA REGINO
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From: Chico Unified School District via Aeries Communications <donotreply@parentsquare.com>
To: 9 )
Sent: Friday, January 13, 2023 at 06:24:35 PM PST

Subject: A Message From the CUSD Superintendent

Chico Unified School District

Chico Unified School District posted in Chico Unified School District

A Message From the CUSD Superintendent

Dear Chico Unified Families,

Yesterday (1/12/23) an article was published online and is making news headlines. At 4:07
p.m. today (1/13/23) we received the legal paperwork that sparked the initial news story.
While our legal counsel is currently reviewing the lawsuit, we can address the article's
headline and assure our community that Chico Unified does not have a "Parental Secrecy
Policy", nor do we ever try to change a student's individual identity.

In regard to the lawsuit, we value our community and will thoroughly review and
investigate any claims. As you know, Chico Unified continues to focus on family
engagement and works hard to maintain open and transparent communication. We highly
value the relationships our families have built with their schools. Through the challenges
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faced by our community over the past few years, from the Camp Fire to the Pandemic, we
heard the needs shared by our students and families and worked to put appropriate
student supports in place. We have increased staffing including counselors, reading
teachers, and the opportunity for high school students to take increased courses. We
take pride in the hard work p